FILED

SEP 01 2015

No. 15-112841-A

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

PABLO ALBERTO GONZALEZ Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, Judge District Court Case No. 14 CR 01

> Randall L. Hodgkinson, #15279 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 (785) 296-2869 Fax adoservice@sbids.org Attorney for the Appellant

Nature of the Case

A jury convicted Pablo Gonzalez of unintentional second-degree murder. The district court imposed a 123-month prison sentence. This is Mr. Gozalez' direct appeal from conviction.

Statement of the Issues

Issue #1: Because, as amended and construed, there is no articulable difference between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary

manslaughter, the statute defining unintentional second-degree

murder is unconstitutionally vague.

Issue #2: Because the record does not include evidence to support that Mr.

Gonzalez acted with extreme indifference to the value of human life, it

does not support a conviction for unintentional second-degree

murder.

Issue #3: The district court failed to give a meaningful answer to the jury's

question when it asked for clarification of the difference between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter.

unintentional second degree marder and involuntary mansiaughter.

Issue #4: The district court improperly conducted discussions about the jury's

question off the record and, presumably, outside the presence of Mr. Gonzalez. This ex parte communication violated the Due Process

Clause, the Confrontation Clause, and the Public Trial Clause.

Issue #5: The district co

The district court failed to give a limiting instruction regarding

uncharged bad act evidence admitted at trial.

Issue #6: Cumulative error denied Mr. Gonzalez a fair trial.

Statement of Facts

Pablo Gonzalez and his friends celebrated New Year's Eve in the traditional way, getting together at parties and drinking and playing games. (R.5, 128-36, 159-68; R.7, 372). L.B. was one of Mr. Gonzalez' friends. (R.7, 371). After being at a party, Mr. Gonzalez and L.B. and two others drove out of town and did some shooting with Mr. Gonzalez' hand gun. (R.7, 373). Mr. Gonzalez and the others were quite intoxicated;

approximately three hours after the accident resulting in L.B.'s death, Mr. Gonzalez had a blood alcohol content of .25. (R.6, 284). Unfortunately, the lack of judgment resulting from this intoxication culminated in L.B.'s death.

After shooting in the country, the men drove back into town. (R.7, 374). The other men had mostly passed out in the back seat, when they heard a gunshot go off and heard Mr. Gonzalez exclaim that they needed to get help. (R.5, 138, 169).

Mr. Gonzalez testified that while they had been driving back into town, he had the handgun out and pointed at his own head. (R.7, 374). L.B. said "Don't do that"; Mr. Gonzalez responded that it wasn't loaded and pointed it at L.B., pulled the trigger, and the gun discharged. (R.7, 374). Mr. Gonzalez testified that he didn't think the gun was loaded. (R.7, 374). At first, Mr. Gonzalez thought and hoped that L.B. was okay, but then saw him bleeding and coughing and yelled that they needed to get help. (R.7, 374). He tried to call 911 on his cell phone, but was too drunk to complete the call. (R.7, 374). At trial, Mr. Gonzalez acknowledged that he pulled the trigger, but testified that he did not know the gun was loaded and did not intend to shoot L.B. (R.7, 377-78).

Mr. Gonzalez immediately proceeded to a nearby police station where a police officer saw Mr. Gonzalez hurry up to the entrance franticly seeking help and saying he "just shot his boy in the face." (R.5, 102-03). The officer found a handgun on the ground with one round in the chamber. (R.5, 107-08). L.B. was dead on the scene. (R.5, 119). The coroner testified that L.B. died from a gunshot wound to the neck and from the markings around the wound, the coroner testified that gun must have been nearly against L.B.'s neck. (R.6, 306, 314). The coroner also noted that L.B. had a blood alcohol content of .212. (R.6, 312).

The state charged Mr. Gonzalez with intentional second-degree murder and aggravated assault. (R.1, 26). A jury convicted Mr. Gonzalez of unintentional second-degree murder, given as a lesser-included offense, and acquitted him of aggravated assault. (R.1, 75). The district court imposed a 123-month prison sentence. (R.1, 84).

Arguments and Authorities

Issue #1: Because, as amended and construed, there is no articulable difference between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter, the statute defining unintentional second-degree murder is unconstitutionally vague.

Reviewability and standard of review

Appointed counsel did not object to application of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5403(a)(2) on vagueness grounds. But this Court can and should reach an issue for the first time on appeal if it: (1) involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts that is finally determinative of the case or (2) if consideration is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent denial of fundamental rights. *State v. Puckett*, 230 Kan. 596, 598-99, 640 P.2d 1198 (1982). The instant claim satisfies both prongs of this test. The constitutionality of a statute is purely a question of law over which this Court exercises de novo review. *See State v. Laturner*, 289 Kan. 727, 735, 218 P.3d 23 (2009). And conviction under a vague statute offends the core of the Due Process Clause, a fundamental right.

Test for vagueness

The United States Supreme Court recently reiterated its vagueness test under the Due Process Clause:

¹ The aggravated assault charged stemmed from allegations by another acquaintance that, at another point in the evening, Mr. Gonzalez had been asking for some cigarettes and during the interaction was pointing a gun and being stupid. (R.6, 203-05). Because Mr. Gonzalez was acquitted of this offense, it is not included in any detail in the statement of facts.

The Fifth Amendment provides that "[n]o person shall ... be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Our cases establish that the Government violates this guarantee by taking away someone's life, liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement. *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357–358, 103 S.Ct. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983). The prohibition of vagueness in criminal statutes "is a well-recognized requirement, consonant alike with ordinary notions of fair play and the settled rules of law," and a statute that flouts it "violates the first essential of due process." *Connally v. General Constr. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926). [*Johnson v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2556-57 (2015)].

In *Johnson*, the United States Supreme Court tested the residual clause of the Armed Career Criminal Act, which enhanced a sentence upon a judicial finding that a prior offense "otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to another." The majority opinion noted that this definition "leaves grave uncertainty about how to estimate the risk posed by the statute" and at the same time "leaves uncertainty about how much risk it takes to qualify as a violent felony." 135 S.Ct. at 2557-58. *Johnson* clarified that a statute has to describe prohibited conduct in terms that can be articulated by a court for a judge or a jury.

Prior cases

In 1997, the Kansas Supreme Court considered whether the definitions of unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter failed to have non-vague distinctions that a jury could understand:

Both depraved heart murder and reckless involuntary manslaughter require recklessness—that the killing be done under circumstances showing a realization of the imminence of danger and a conscious disregard of that danger. Depraved heart murder requires the additional element that the reckless killing occur under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life. The question is whether the jury, from looking at the instructions, would know that the two statutes, depraved heart murder and reckless involuntary manslaughter, do not

punish the same thing. The phrase in the depraved heart murder statute requiring the "extreme indifference to the value of human life" indicates, as the legislature intended, that this statute requires a higher degree of recklessness than that required by the reckless involuntary manslaughter statute. If a jury is given a lesser included instruction on reckless involuntary manslaughter, then the jury must assume that some killings fall under this crime. Thus, the jury is put on notice that it must determine whether a reckless killing involves an extreme degree of recklessness and is deprayed heart murder or involves a lower degree of recklessness and is involuntary manslaughter. The jury does this by determining whether a particular reckless killing indicates an extreme indifference to the value of human life which is beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings. Thus, the two statutes (depraved heart murder and involuntary manslaughter) are distinguishable and do not unconstitutionally violate due process or equal protection. [State v. Robinson, 261 Kan. 865, 876-77, 934 P.2d 38 (1997)(citations omitted)].

See also State v. Cordray, 277 Kan. 43, 50, 82 P.3d 503 (2004)(following Robinson).

Robinson and Cordray are not controlling in this case for three reasons: (1) because the Kansas Supreme Court has subsequently clarified that the recklessness involved in reckless homicide refers to the risk of death, (2) because the statute defining recklessness has been amended since Robinson and Cordray, and (3) because Johnson v. United States, decided last year, makes it clear that statutes that turn on an unguided finding regarding a crime being worse than another hypothetical crime are too vague to withstand a vagueness challenge.

How is extreme indifference different than a gross deviation?

In 2012, the Kansas Supreme Court clarified its previous case law regarding the state-of-mind requirement for reckless homicide:

Notwithstanding the contrary language in this court's previous decisions, today we hold that K.S.A. 21–3402 focuses culpability on whether a killing is intentional or unintentional, not on whether a deliberate and voluntary act leads to death. [*State v. Deal*, 293 Kan. 872, 885, 269 P.3d 1282, 1290 (2012)].

Using this test, the line between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary

manslaughter blurs. After July 1, 2011, the Kansas legislature amended the state of mind requirements and declared that a person acts "recklessly" if he or she: "consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that circumstances exists or that a result will follow and such disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care which a reasonable person would exercise in the situation." K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5202(j). The "result" that is the subject of a reckless homicide case is that a death will occur. As a result, involuntary manslaughter is consciously disregarding an unjustifiable risk that a death will occur when such disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care which a reasonable person would exercise in the situation.

Unintentional second-degree murder requires a reckless homicide "under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life." K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5403(a)(2) But every time a person disregards an unjustifiable risk that a death will occur in gross deviation from the reasonable standard of care, it will show extreme indifference to the value of human life on some level. If "extreme indifference to the value of human life" is not qualified in some way there is no way for a jury or a court to delineate the two crimes.

Non-vague statutes must be able to be tested

As noted above, the *Robinson* held that the two offenses were not vague because if the jury determines "whether a particular reckless killing indicates an extreme indifference to the value of human life which is beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings." 261 Kan. at 876-77. This exact kind of analysis was rejected by the United States Supreme Court in *Arizona v. Johnson*, 135 S.Ct. 2551 (2015).

In *Johnson*, describing the flaws in the residual clause of the Armed Career Criminal Act, the Court noted that defining a crime in terms of "a judicially imagined 'ordinary case' of a crime" creates grave uncertainty:

How does one go about deciding what kind of conduct the "ordinary case" of a crime involves? "A statistical analysis of the state reporter? A survey? Expert evidence? Google? Gut instinct?" To take an example, does the ordinary instance of witness tampering involve offering a witness a bribe? Or threatening a witness with violence? Critically, picturing the criminal's behavior is not enough; as we have already discussed, assessing "potential risk" seemingly requires the judge to imagine how the idealized ordinary case of the crime subsequently plays out. [135 S. Ct. at 2557-58].

This same flaw appears in this Court's analysis in *Robinson*. To the extent that unintentional second-degree murder requires something "which is beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings," it would require a jury to make a determination of the "ordinary" reckless killing. But on what basis would it do that? Does the prosecutor have to put on evidence of other reckless killings for comparative purposes? If not, on what basis would a particular jury be able to compare the degrees of recklessness?

Additionally, the *Johnson* Court explained that an appellate court should not be blind to reality regarding a confusing statute. The United States Supreme Court made multiple attempts to find a non-vague construction of the Armed Career Criminal Act as it applied to various circumstances. But cases kept arising. The *Johnson* Court held that "this Court's repeated attempts and repeated failures to craft a principled and objective standard out of the residual clause confirm its hopeless indeterminacy." 135 S. Ct. at 2558.

In *State v. Cordray*, a jury asked for clarification of the phrase "under circumstances showing extreme indifference to the value of human life." 277 Kan. at 49.

In 2004, the *Cordray* Court followed *Robinson* and held that, because the phrase "extreme indifference to the value of human life" was not constitutionally vague, further definition was not required. 277 Kan. at 50. And yet, as evinced in the instant case, juries continue to ask for clarification of the difference between the two crimes. In the instant case, the jury asked the district judge to "provide more clarification of the differences between the murder in the second degree, committed unintentionally and the Involuntary Manslaughter?" (R.9). If juries are explicitly telling district courts they need clarification of the difference between the two crimes, it should be a signal to the appellate courts that *Robinson* is wrong.

As amended and construed by the Kansas Supreme Court, the difference between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter is one that makes no real distinction. And to the extent that any distinction relies upon a jury's comparison to a hypothetical "ordinary" reckless homicide, the United States Supreme Court has held that such a distinction results in "hopeless indeterminacy." As a result, this Court should hold that K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5403(a)(2) is unconstitutionally vague and reverse the unintentional second-degree murder conviction.

Issue #2: Because the record does not include evidence to support that Mr.

Gonzalez acted with extreme indifference to the value of human life, it does not support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder.

Reviewability

Mr. Gonzalez pleaded not guilty. (R.1, 28). Therefore, the state had the burden to prove "every material fact alleged in the charge." K.S.A. 22-3209(3); *State v. Farmer*, 285 Kan. 541, 545, 175 P.3d 221, 225 (2008)("There is no requirement that a criminal defendant challenge the sufficiency of the evidence before the trial court in order to

preserve it for appeal.)

Standard of Review

The standard of review for a sufficiency challenge is whether "after review of all the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the appellate court is convinced that a rational factfinder could have found [Mr. Gonzalez] guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Johnson*, 266 Kan. 322, 326, 970 P.2d 990 (1998). *See also In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)(conviction on insufficient evidence violates Due Process Clause).

Discussion

As argued above, because no Kansas court has ever articulated a distinction between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter, a sufficiency analysis is somewhat difficult. The only real description of a difference between the two statutes was stated by the Kansas Supreme Court in *State v. Robinson*, quoted above: "whether a particular reckless killing indicates an extreme indifference to the value of human life which is beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings."

As reasoned in *Robinson*, if these crimes are not vague, there must be some articulable set of circumstances that would support a conviction for involuntary manslaughter but not support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder. The Kansas Supreme Court has never articulated those circumstances, except to note that whatever "extreme indifference to the value of human life" it is something that must be "beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings." 261 Kan. 876-77. Therefore, the question in this case is: did the state present evidence that any recklessness in this case exceeded the "indifference present in all reckless killings?"

The state did not put on any evidence regarding other cases involving "ordinary" recklessness in an involuntary manslaughter case from which a jury might compare any alleged recklessness stemming from Mr. Gonzalez' conduct. Nor did the state present any expert testimony regarding what constitutes "ordinary" recklessness in an involuntary manslaughter case.

Furthermore, the facts in this tragic case do not show recklessness "beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings." Viewed in a light most favorable to the state. Mr. Gonzalez knew that he pointed the gun at L.B. and knew that he pulled the trigger. But there is no evidence to support that he knew that the gun was loaded. Mr. Gonzalez explicitly testified to the contrary. Although the state introduced some evidence that Mr. Gonzalez had chambered a round in the gun at an earlier point on New Year's Eve, (R.6, 1893), it did not show that he had any recall of such a fact, even if true. Mr. Gonzalez testified that he originally was pointing the gun at his own head, which is not conduct by a person who understands that a gun might be loaded; it shows a person engaged in drunken horseplay. (R.7, 374). The state did not show any motive as to why Mr. Gonzalez would point a loaded gun at L.B. at short range. On the contrary, Mr. Gonzalez and L.B. were friends. (R.7, 371). The state presented no evidence that Mr. Gonzalez and L.B. were engaged in some conflict. On the other hand, even in his drunken state, Mr. Gonzalez' first reaction to the accident was to seek to get help for L.B. at a nearby police station. (R.7, 375). None of those circumstances support a conclusion that Mr. Gonzalez knew that the gun was loaded; it is clear that he was surprised and dismayed that the gun discharged, killing his friend.

Engaging in horseplay with a gun may be reckless. Unfortunately, though, many people die from gunshot wounds that are the result of horseplay or other mistakes regarding whether a gun is loaded. If the facts of this case can support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder, every person who accidentally shot someone while cleaning a gun—thinking it was unloaded—would be guilty of unintentional second-degree murder. If these facts can support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder, it is difficult to articulate circumstances that would not support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder, but still support a finding of ordinary recklessness. Even the *Robinson* Court acknowledges that such cases must exist.

Because the state did not present evidence of recklessness that case exceeded the "indifference present in all reckless killing," the record cannot support a conviction for unintentional second-degree murder. As a result, this Court should reverse.

Issue #3: The district court failed to give a meaningful answer to the jury's question when it asked for clarification of the difference between unintentional second-degree murder and involuntary manslaughter.

Reviewability

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