ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2015 Dec 29 PM 1:07 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 112841

No. 15-112841-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS

Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

PABLO ALBERTO GONZALEZ

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, Judge District Court Case No. 14-CR-01

> AMANDA G. VOTH, # 23148 Assistant Solicitor General Office of the Kansas Attorney General 120 SW 10th Ave., 2nd Floor Topeka, Kansas 66612 (785) 296-2215 Fax: (785) 291-3875 amanda.voth@ag.ks.gov

Attorney for Appellee

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

Argument

In Issue III, Gonzalez asserts the district court did not provide a meaningful answer to the jury's question regarding the difference between unintentional second degree murder and involuntary manslaughter. *Appellant's Brief*, 12. It is important to note that Gonzalez did not object to the elements instruction for either of these two crimes, nor did he request any additional definition or instruction regarding either of these two crimes. (R. I, 61; R. VIII, 400-06.)

The jury asked: "Can you provide more clarification of the differences between the murder in the second degree, committed unintentionally and the Involuntary Manslaughter?" (R. IX.) The typed response signed by the district court judge states: "Your question is whether I can provide more clarification of the differences between the murder in the second degree, committed unintentionally and the Involuntary Manslaughter. Please refer to the instructions provided to you." (R. IX.)

As an initial matter, it is generally not proper for an appellate court to speculate about a jury's deliberations, or delve into the mental process of a jury. *State v. King*, 297 Kan. 955, 969, 305 P.3d 641 (2013).

The problem with Gonzalez's argument is that both unintentional second degree murder and involuntary manslaughter are defined, and a further definition would not have aided the jury. Gonzalez's proposed response in his brief is merely restating what is apparent from the instructions. Clearly both the murder and the manslaughter charge involve a killing that is reckless. The unintentional second degree murder, as the jury was instructed, has the additional element of "under circumstances that show extreme indifference to the value of human life." (R. I, 71.)

Similar issues have been addressed previously, as pointed out by Gonzalez. In *Robinson*, *supra*, one of the issues was whether the jury could determine what "extreme indifference to the value of human life" was, or whether it was so vague that it needed an additional instruction to explain its meaning. 261 Kan. at 877. The Kansas Supreme Court cited the comments in the Model Penal Code: "Given the Model Code definition of recklessness, the point involved is put adequately and succinctly by asking whether the recklessness rises to the level of 'extreme indifference to the value of human life.' As has

been observed, it seems undesirable to suggest a more specific formulation. ... The virtue of the Model Penal Code language is that it is a simpler and more direct method by which this function can be performed." 261 Kan. at 877 (quoting A.L.I., Model Penal Code & Commentaries, Part II § 210.2, Comment 4, pp. 25–26 (1980)).

The Court, again citing from a comment in the Model Penal Code, noted that a conviction for the more serious crime of unintentional second degree murder "requires proof that the defendant acted 'recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life.' This language describes a kind of culpability that differs in degree but not in kind from the ordinary reckless required for manslaughter." 261 Kan. at 876 (quoting A.L.I., Model Penal Code & Commentaries, Part II § 210.3, Comment 4, p. 53.)

The *Robinson* Court continued that a jury is "expected to decipher many difficult phrases without receiving specific definitions, such as the term 'reasonable doubt.'" *Id.* at 877. The Court concluded that the phrase "extreme indifference to the value of human life" is not vague. *Id.*

In *Cordray*, *supra*, the jury asked for "an interpretation or clarification' of the phrase 'under circumstances showing extreme indifference to the value of human life." 277 Kan. at 49. The trial court responded by informing the jury that no further clarification was necessary. *Id.* at 50. Noting that the defendant acquiesced to the response, the Kansas Supreme Court affirmed the district court's response. *Id.*

"The trial court's referring the jury to an instruction that defines the term in question is approved standard procedure for responding to a jury's request for a

definition." *State v. Brown*, 272 Kan. 809, 812, 37 P.3d 31 (2001). Arguably, based on *Robinson* and *Cordray*, this is what the district court did in this case.

Similar to *Robinson* and *Cordray*, in this case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by referring the jury back to the instructions. *Robinson* made clear that no further definition was necessary in the unintentional second degree murder statute. The trial court could not have provided a response that would have given the jury more direction than what they already had in the instructions, and in fact, Gonzalez's proposed response on appeal really does not provide much more guidance than the instructions themselves provide. The differences in the two crimes is clear: the unintentional second degree murder statute has an additional, heightened element, of a killing committed "under circumstances that show extreme indifference to the value of human life." (R. I, 71.) Additionally, it is well settled law that, when considering whether the jury could have been misled by an error in the jury instructions, an appellate court considers the instructions as a whole, and does not isolate any one instruction. *King*, 297 Kan. at 968-69.

Contrary to Gonzalez's assertion that reversal is required because there "is at least a real possibility that [the jury] would have returned a different verdict" if one "juror would have formed a reasonable doubt regarding whether the conduct in this case 'indicates an extreme indifference to the value of human life which is beyond that indifference present in all reckless killings,' and returned a verdict for the lesser offense," is fatally flawed. *Appellant's Brief*, 14-15. The instructions that were provided to the jury specifically instruct the jury on the correct procedure to follow if any one juror formed a reasonable doubt regarding any element of an offense. First, the jury is

instructed that it is its duty to consider and follow all instructions. (R. I, 68.) Second, it is instructed the verdict must be unanimous. (R. I, 73.) Third, it is instructed that "[w]hen there is a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more offenses defendant is guilty, he may be convicted of the lesser offense only." (R. I, 70.) And finally, in the involuntary manslaughter instruction it states: "If you do not agree that the defendant is guilty of Murder in the Second Degree, committed Unintentionally, you should then consider the lesser included offense of Involuntary Manslaughter." (R. I, 72.) (Emphasis added.) Gonzalez's argument disregards all of these specific instructions provided to the jury, and disregards the safeguards that the instructions put into place to ensure a defendant is only convicted of the offense on which all of the jurors agree. "It is presumed on appeal that jurors follow the instructions that they receive from the district court." State v. Sisson, 302 Kan. 123, Syl. ¶ 6, 351 P.3d 1235 (2015).

As it relates to the trial court's specific answer to the jury's question, because the trial court could not have provided a clearer answer than what was already provided to the jury by way of written jury instructions, there was no error. The district court took the safest route possible by referring the jury back to the instructions. It did not attempt to construct its own explanation of the differences in the two crimes. Even if this Court would find that it would somehow constitute error, the error is harmless. As discussed in Issue II, the prosecution's evidence was strong that Gonzalez acting recklessly and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life. Moreover, because Gonzalez did not object to the district court's response, it is his burden to show the error was clearly erroneous. *State v. Williams*, 295 Kan. 506, 516, 286 P.3d 195 (2012). He has not met this burden. No error by the court or a party is grounds for a new

trial or setting aside a verdict or disturbing a judgment, unless justice requires. K.S.A. 60-261. Justice, in this case, requires that the conviction stand.

Issue IV: Although the district court may have erred in the procedure it used to handle one of the jury's questions, the error was harmless.

Standard of Review

Gonzalez argues his constitutional rights were violated when the record does not reflect his presence for a discussion on the jury's question and for the district court's answer. He argues his right to be present at every critical stage of the proceedings was violated, and his right to a public trial was violated. On appeal, a defendant's argument about the right to be present at every critical stage is an issue of law over which the court has unlimited review. *State v. Verser*, 299 Kan. 776, 787, 326 P.3d 1046 (2014). Similarly, regarding his claim that his right to a public trial was violated, this Court has unlimited review over alleged constitutional violations. See *State v. Hilt*, 299 Kan. 176, 200, 202, 322 P.3d 367 (2014).

Argument

During deliberations, the jury asked: "Can you provide more clarification of the differences between the murder in the second degree, committed unintentionally and the Involuntary Manslaughter?" (R. IX.) The typed response signed by the district court judge states: "Your question is whether I can provide more clarification of the differences between the murder in the second degree, committed unintentionally and the Involuntary Manslaughter. Please refer to the instructions provided to you." (R. IX.) There does not appear to be a record of a discussion with counsel or Gonzalez regarding the proper answer for the question.

Gonzalez raises two different procedural issues in his Issue IV – he first complains that there is no record of Gonzalez's presence for any discussion regarding the question, nor does the record reflect a waiver of his presence. The second issue he raises is that the jury's question was presumably not answered in open court and on the record, which he argues violated his right to a public trial. The State will address each of these issues in turn.

Generally, constitutional grounds for reversal will not be considered for the first time on appeal. *State v. Bowen*, 299 Kan. 339, 354, 323 P.3d 853 (2014). Though Gonzalez did not object to the procedure used by the district court in answering the jury's question, the State acknowledges this Court has nevertheless considered issues such as this for the first time on appeal. *State v. Ramirez*, 50 Kan.App.2d 922, 930, 334 P.3d 324 (2014) (citing *Bowen*, 299 Kan. at 354-55; *State v. Bell*, 266 Kan. 896, 918-20, 975 P.2d 239, *cert.denied* 528 U.S. 905, 120 S.Ct. 247, 145 L.Ed.2d 207 (1999)).

A. The record does not reflect Gonzalez's presence for a discussion on the jury's question

A defendant has a constitutional and statutory right to be present at all critical stages of trial, including conferences between the district court and jurors. *State v. Coyote*, 268 Kan. 726, 731, 1 P.3d 836 (2000). If the record does not disclose the presence of a defendant, it is presumed he was not present and his statutory and constitutional rights were violated. *State v. Bell*, 266 Kan. 896, 920, 975 P.2d 239 (1999).

The Court in *State v. King*, 297 Kan. 955, 967, 305 P.3d 641 (2013), after analysis, concluded that "any question from the jury concerning the law or evidence pertaining to the case must be answered in open court in the defendant's presence unless

the defendant is voluntarily absent." In reaching this conclusion, the Court discussed both K.S.A. 22-3420(3) and K.S.A. 22-3405(1).

The version of K.S.A. 22-3420(3) in effect at the time of Gonzalez's trial stated: "After the jury has retired for deliberation, if they desire to be informed as to any part of the law or evidence arising in the case, they may request the officer to conduct them to the court, where the information on the point of the law shall be given, or the evidence shall be read or exhibited to them in the presence of the defendant, unless he voluntarily absents himself, and his counsel and after notice to the prosecuting attorney."

K.S.A. 22-3405(a) states: "The defendant in a felony case shall be present ... at every stage of the trial... except as otherwise provided by law."

Because the record does not establish that Gonzalez was present, the next step is for this court to conduct a harmless error analysis.

The *King* Court, citing to *State v. Herbel*, 296 Kan. 1101, 299 P.3d 292 (2013), noted that acts or omissions violating K.S.A. 22-3420(3) also violate K.S.A. 22-3405(1) and the Sixth Amendment. 297 Kan. at 968. When there are both statutory and federal constitutional rights affected from the same acts or omissions, only the federal constitutional harmless error standard need be applied. *Id.* Using this standard, "error may be declared harmless where the party benefitting from the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of will not or did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record, *i.e.*, where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, Syl. ¶ 6, 256 P.3d 801 (2011)).

Four factors help evaluate whether a district court's communication with the jury, outside the presence of the defendant, is harmless under the constitutional standard: "(1) the overall strength of the prosecution's case; (2) whether an objection was lodged; (3) whether the ex parte communication concerned a critical aspect of the trial or rather involved an innocuous and insignificant matter, and the manner in which it was conveyed to the jury; and (4) the ability of a posttrial remedy to mitigate the constitutional error." *State v. Verser*, 299 Kan. 776, 789-90, 326 P.3d 1046 (2014).

In *State v. Coyote*, the Kansas Supreme Court undertook a harmless error analysis and found that the district court's answer was a correct statement of law, and that the court's discussion with Coyote's trial counsel, outside of his presence, was brief. It concluded the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial. 268 Kan. at 735.

Applying the four factors to this case, the State's analysis follows. First, the prosecution's case of unintentional second degree murder, the count on which the jury convicted Gonzalez, was strong. The State has previously argued the sufficiency of the evidence, so will not now take time to reiterate all of its assertions from Issue II. However, based on previous arguments, the prosecution's case was strong. This factor weighs in favor of the State.

Second, the record does not reflect that an objection was lodged. However, K.S.A. 22-3414(3) states in part: "The court reporter shall record all objections to the instructions given or refused by the court, together with modifications made, and the rulings of the court." While one could assume that had an objection been made, there would have been a record made, the State would agree that a record of a conversation

does not appear anywhere in the transcripts. The State would agree with Gonzalez that this factor may weigh equally, or in the alternative, this Court "cannot particularly evaluate the second factor." *Appellant's Brief*, 18. At worst, this factor would not weigh against Gonzalez, as there is not a clear record.

Third, as to the critical or innocuous aspect and the manner in which it was conveyed to the jury, this factor weighs in favor of the State. While the question requested clarification of two of the crimes — an issue of law — the district court followed case law and did not provide additional definition. Instead, the district court referred the jury back to the previously agreed-upon instructions. The district court did not provide incorrect information, but instead took the safest route possible, and referred the jury back to the instructions. This factor weighs in the State's favor.

Finally, Gonzalez had the opportunity to file a Motion for New Trial or similar such motion post trial, had he believed such motion was necessary based on the jury's question and the district court's answer. This would have been a remedy available to him that he declined to use. It seems clear that he did not believe any such motion was necessary. This factor also weighs in favor of the State.

In conclusion, based on the weighing of the factors, the error in this case is harmless.

B. The record does not reflect that the jury's question and answer were read in open court

Gonzalez also complains that his right to a public trial was violated by the district court's procedure of not putting the communication with the jury on the record, which was presumably also not done in open court. Specifically, he complains the judge did not read the jury question on the record, and the transcript does not reflect that the judge

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